Does Team Vs Solo Irish Dancing Produce Different Psychological Outcomes on Anxiety Level and Stress Management Ability?

Ellen Shaw

20472166

Supervisor: Dr Michelle Kelly

B.A. (Hons) in Psychology National College of Ireland

March 2023

Submission of Thesis and Dissertation

National College of Ireland Research Students Declaration Form (Thesis/Author Declaration Form)

Name: Ellen Shaw

Student Number: 20472166

Degree for which thesis is submitted: Bachelor of Arts Honours Psychology

Title of Thesis: Does Team Vs Solo Irish Dancing Produce Different

Psychological Outcomes on Anxiety Level and Stress Management Ability?

Date: 4/03/2023

Material submitted for award

A. I declare that this work submitted has been composed by myself.	V
B. I declare that all verbatim extracts contained in the thesis have been distinguished by quotation marks and the sources of information specifically acknowledged.	V
C. I agree to my thesis being deposited in the NCI Library online open access repository NORMA.	
 D. <i>Either</i> *I declare that no material contained in the thesis has been used in any other submission for an academic award. <i>Or</i> *I declare that the following material contained in the thesis formed part of a submission for the award of 	L.
(state the award and the awarding body and list the material below)	

 \checkmark

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank my family, my boyfriend, and my extended family for being so supportive of me and believing in me. I don't know what I would do without you all.

I would like to thank sincerely my amazing supervisor, Dr Michelle Kelly for having the patience of a saint and for answering all my questions. I can't thank her enough for all her help with this project. Her passion for psychology is admirable and she is an inspiration to those who have the pleasure of learning from her.

Finally, I would like to thank all the Irish dancers who took the time out of their own lives to participate in my project. Your support as a community is unmatched and I wish you all every success in your Irish dancing careers.

Abstract

The present study investigated the differences in psychological outcomes of anxiety and stress between competitive Irish dancers of different levels and different types of Irish dance e.g., solo Irish dance, team Irish dance, or both solo and team Irish dance. Previous research has identified differences in psychological outcomes based on the level and the type of sport the individual engaged in. A total of 149 competitive Irish dancers completed the online questionnaire which measured their anxiety and stress levels using the Liebowitz Social Anxiety Self-Report scale (LSAS-SR) and the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS). Findings from t-tests, multiple regression analyses and Mann-Whitney U-tests showed no significant differences between Irish dancers at different levels and types on the outcomes of anxiety and stress. Findings contrast with previous studies on the topic which include different sports. Study implications and suggestions for future research are discussed.

Table of Contents

Introduction
Methodology17
Participants17
Measures18
Design19
Procedure19
Results20
Descriptive statistics
Inferential statistics
Discussion
Implications
Limitations and Strengths
Conclusion
References
Appendices

Introduction

A systematic analysis has suggested that the prevalence of disease and illness resulting from mental health problems has been steadily on the rise in recent years (Imboden et al., 2022). Mental health problems affect 75% of people over forty years of age and 25% of these problems start at fifteen years old (Javed et al., 2022). In Ireland, The Healthy Ireland Survey conducted in 2021, indicated a rise in psychological distress among the whole population (O'Leary, 2021). As of 2019, severe anxiety affected 13% of Irish secondary school students and 26% of 19-25-yearolds (Kearns, 2019). Over a third of adults suffer from anxiety in Ireland (Joyce & Ryan, 2019). Over a third of adults and over half of 18-35-year-olds in Ireland, also suffer from stress regularly (Bell, 2021). Numerous empirical studies have emphasized the significant negative impacts mental health problems can have on an individual, psychologically, physically, and socially and some of these include the pervasiveness of hypertension, decreased immune system functioning, obesity, diabetes, increased risk of suffering from chronic diseases, increased risk of cardiovascular diseases and sleeping disorders, decreased quality of life, lower self-esteem and confidence, and influence of unemployment (Aarons et al., 2008; Angrist & Krueger, 2001; Butterworth et al., 2011; Connell et al., 2012; Hoang et al., 2019; Javed et al., 2022).

Anxiety and Stress

Anxiety and stress are two components that have been heavily researched in the psychological field and the empirical research findings suggest that both can have serious negative psychological and physical impacts (Karnatak, 2016; Shaw et al., 2021). Anxiety is a negative state of feeling characterized by tension, worry, and dread and can cause physiological changes in the body (American Psychological Association, 2021). The physiological changes produced by anxiety include autonomic hyperactivity e.g., increased heart rate and shortness of breath,

increased motor tension e.g., muscle tension, fatigue, and restlessness, and increased vigilance e.g., feeling nervous or stimulated, and this can also impact concentration (Aquin et al., 2017; Gale & Oakley-Browne, 2004) Anxiety is a physiological, psychological and behavioural state triggered by a perceived threat and it evokes physiological changes to help cope with a threat or an unexpected threatening situation, either actual or potential (Steimer, 2002). Anxiety can encourage focus on negative life events and result in concentration problems which can then cause work and social problems (Robinson et al., 2013). Anxiety is a leading cause of disability worldwide and anxiety disorders are often chronic (Knight & Depue, 2019; Shackman & Fox, 2021). Anxiety is complex as one individual could perceive a stimulus as threatening and therefore provoke feelings of anxiety but for another, the same stimulus could be seen as a challenging activity and for another, this stimulus could be neutral and provoke no reaction (Hanin, 2000). An experience that elicits anxiety for many is competition as a performer's abilities and skills are being scrutinized and evaluated in a challenging environment and there is pressure for them to perform well (Eysenck et al., 2007; Ford et al., 2017).

As mentioned previously, stress is among components like anxiety that can cause negative impacts on health status both psychologically and physically (Karnatak, 2016; Kasl, 1984; Shaw et al., 2021). Stress is a feeling experienced when one feels pressure emotionally or physically and it can affect nearly every system in the body, thus giving it the ability to decrease quality of life if experienced severely, or over a prolonged period (Schneiderman et al., 2015). Early theorists believed that stress worked as a two-way process between the person and the environment that causes the stressor (Lazarus & Folkman, 1987). The correlation between stressors and their negative impacts on an individual is dependent on multiple factors including the individual's biological components e.g., genetics, the amount, type, and persistence of the stressors, the accessible resources available, and the individual's coping mechanisms in relation to stress (Schneiderman et al., 2015). Furthermore, the extent to which a stressor negatively affects a person is based on multiple items also, one being, their ability to manage stress (McLafferty et al., 2019). The ability to manage stress is based on how threatening a person believes a stressor is and how they perceive their own ability to deal with the stressor. Stress can be elicited in different environments e.g., competing at a sporting competition can elicit stress for performers and this is shown in multiple studies (Carrasco Páez & Martínez-Díaz, 2021; Lopes Dos Santos et al., 2020; van Paridon et al., 2017). The ability to manage stress is vital for reducing the negative impacts of stress and can be improved over time through experiences that promote resilience (Dagnino-Subiabre, 2022). Recent studies have shown that negative impacts from mental health problems can be prevented or reduced by encouraging interpersonal and intrapersonal sources of resilience (Cui & Xie, 2022; Okwori, 2022).

Resilience

Resilience has been defined by Fletcher & Sarker (2016) as the ability to use personal qualities to deal with pressure. It is the adaptation to adversity or a perceived threat which has been successful and healthy (Martinez-Torteya et al., 2009). Numerous studies including cross-sectional studies, systematic reviews and longitudinal studies have shown that sports performances and competitions are effective ways to build resilience (Blanco-García et al., 2021; Gupta & McCarthy, 2022; Norris & Norris, 2021; Ueno & Suzuki, 2016). Research conducted on resilience in sport has suggested that the extent of commitment from the athlete/coach or parent may have an impact on the effectiveness of developing resilience (Sarkar & Page, 2020). Elite athletes have previously shown positive psychological factors they have developed through sport that can act as barriers against the negative impacts of stressors while competing (Fletcher & Sarkar, 2012). These

psychological factors include correlating motivation, confidence, perceived social support, and focus with positivity. Further research has shown that competitive sport provides a meaningful purpose, and its highly skilled tasks enhance the development of resilience (Masten, 2014; Southwick & Charney, 2012). The most prominent form of physical activity that has been studied in relation to building resilience is exercise and it has been shown to be effective in multiple study designs including experimental designs, clinical trials, cross-sectional studies, systematic reviews and meta-analysis studies (Childs & de Wit, 2014; Elrick, 1996; Goodwin, 2003; Samitz et al., 2011).

Previous literature on exercise

There has been an abundance of research supporting the benefits of exercise/ physical activity (Wu et al., 2013). These studies have proven exercise to be a successful intervention for improving mental health associated with depression, anxiety, and overall cognitive functioning (Bielak et al., 2014; Greenwood et al., 2012; Mura et al., 2014; Ruegsegger & Booth, 2018). The therapeutic effects of engaging in exercise have been suggested as equally successful as psychotherapy (Kvam et al., 2016). The more frequent and longer the duration of the exercise means the better the psychological effects and the better the mental health (Ahmad, 2022). Physiological responses such as the release of endorphins, serotonin, noradrenaline and dopamine in the brain and the decrease of proinflammatory cytokines related to anxiety are all triggered by physical activity (Ahmad, 2022; Hu et al., 2020; Grasdalsmoen et al., 2020).

Like exercise, competitive sport shares similar physical aspects such as training and physical endurance (Malm et al., 2019). Sport, defined by Biddle & Mutrie (2008), as a subcomponent of exercise, may have very similar positive outcomes from physical activity as exercise. However, there may be other benefits of competitive sport that exercise does not possess as competitive sport contains a social aspect to it that exercise may not (Le Bouc & Pessiglione, 2013). Competitive sport is much more success-oriented than exercise as the focus for the individual is on achievements, winning, breaking personal records, and/or scoring better than your rival (Listra, 2015; Murayama & Elliot, 2012). The most common reason for engaging in exercise is to improve physical and psychological health and appearance (Ríos et al., 2013). High-performance competitors train hard at their sport with a focus on success and can be under immense pressure and stress to perform well (Angelova et al., 2022; Buser et al., 2016). This difference between competitive sport and exercise on both psychological and physical outcomes has limited research surrounding it.

Previous literature surrounding competitive sport

Despite several previous research studies about competitive sport testing the negative psychological outcomes, such as eating disorders (Glazer, 2008; Godoy-Izquierdo et al., 2021; Sundgot-Borgen, 1994), there has been some recent research to support that sports, when following ethics rules and done appropriately, has the potential to positively influence mental health (Appelqvist-Schmidlechner et al., 2017). Competitive sports have provided mental health benefits because of the psychological, physiological, and social aspects of it, and they can act as protective barriers to block mental health problems from developing (Bean et al., 2019). Sports can have many positive psychological effects such as increased self-esteem, increased leadership abilities, better abilities to cope with anxiety, and increased moral development (Holland & Andre, 1987; Weiss & Glenn, 1992). Sports pressures can provide youth with a tool to manage stressful situations and it encourages the development of resilience when failure or defeat is experienced (Kuntz, 2022). The level of sport competition has been suggested to significantly affect mental health benefits, specifically the developmental variables such as personality and social factors

(Holland & Andre, 1987; McFadden et al., 2016). Research on elite athletes found that they had significantly higher social self-esteem and global self-esteem compared to the general population (Marsh et al., 1995). Both in current studies and longitudinal studies, people who participated in sports seemed to have better well-being state, significantly lower anxiety scores, fewer dietary issues, a lower score for total risks, and more positive affect than those who did not (Kirkcaldy et al., 2002; McDonald & Hodgdon, 1991; Pyle et al., 2003). A study done on male basketball players had participants split into three groups; stars, starters, or substitutes, and findings revealed that the stars were most likely to go to college (95%), then the starters (91%) and then the substitutes were least likely to attend college (80%) (Snyder, 1975). This further confirms the view that the level of sport participation determines how beneficial the outcomes of competitive sport will be. A recent study conducted in 2022, showed that while sports participation increased, the chance of experiencing depression decreased by 25% and suicidal thoughts decreased by 12% (Kuntz, 2022).

However, although positive outcomes have been found from engaging in competitive sport, as mentioned above, there are also contrasting findings with negative outcomes. A compilation of studies, specifically review studies, has suggested that injuries, eating disorders, burnout, substance abuse, risk of failure, and the worsening of existing health problems are among the negative outcomes resulting from competitive sports participation (Bean et al., 2014; Malm et al., 2019; Pipe, 2001). Injuries especially among competitive athletes can trigger psychological disorders, e.g., depression, and for older athletes an injury which would cease training can reduce blood flow to the brain, causing a serious negative impact on the individual (Malm et al., 2019). Studies have revealed that sporting injuries can produce a grief response in the individual which is comparable to the grief experienced from death, illness, or disability (Evans & Hardy, 1995; Walker et al., 2007). Eating disorders have emerged as a significant negative impact for some

individuals in competitive sports among systematic review studies, literature reviews, research studies, and meta-analyses (Ricciardelli & McCabe, 2004; Smolak et al., 2000; Sundgot-Borgen, 1994; Werner et al., 2013). These eating disorders can stem from the pressure to succeed, perfectionism, aesthetic purposes based on judging criteria, and pressure from coaches, parents, society, or the athletes themselves (Bean et al., 2014; Overdorf & Gill, 1994; Turocy et al., 2011). Burnout is a term used to describe an athlete's response to chronic emotional and interpersonal stressors and is associated with a lack of interest in a sport they once enjoyed, loss of motivation and over-training (Bean et al., 2014; Maslach & Jackson, 1981). Another interesting finding on the negative outcomes is that individuals at risk for engaging in substance abuse can be influenced by certain sports to engage in these behaviours (de Grace et al., 2017). Findings from a metaanalysis and a randomized within-subject design show that if a person's performance is scored or compared with others, it will elicit a stress response therefore, a person competing in a skill-based task among others e.g., a dance competition, would elicit stress for the average person (Dickerson & Kemeny, 2004; von Dawans et al., 2011). Further research needs to be done to investigate the positive and negative aspects of competitive sports and their impacts on individuals.

Generally, both positive and negative outcomes have emerged throughout the research on competitive sport. This forms inconsistencies from the literature findings on the effects of competitive sports and this contrasting view needs to be investigated. The potential factors that can influence a positive or a negative impact on an athlete have been suggested (Nelson et al., 2019). Mediating factors have been proposed to protect the athlete against negative outcomes of competitive sport, for example, the type of sport an individual is involved in, whether it be an individual or a team sport (Terry-McElrath & O'Malley, 2011).

Comparing individual and team sports

A qualitative, a quantitative, and a mixed methods study compared individual sports benefits with team sports benefits and overall, the three studies suggested that team sports are more beneficial to psychological health and more effective at acting as a barrier to block negative mental health problems from developing (Gerber et al., 2014; Ottesen et al., 2010; Thorpe et al., 2014). These studies investigated a range of different individual and team sports such as, football, running, dance, aerobic exercise, and other ball sports. The quantitative study by Gerber et al. (2012), suggested that ball sports and dance were found to be effective in decreasing depression with participants that had high perceived stress, whereas aerobic exercise (an individual sport), was not found to be successful in producing any stress managing effects. The qualitative study revealed that male football players found it easier to engage in a team sport to improve psychological health rather than individual physical activity because of the peer support (Thorpe et al., 2014). The presence of peer support, social bonding, and the formation of greater social connections in team sports increased the psychological benefits for the athletes and gave them greater psychological benefits in comparison to the benefits received by those in individual sports (Andersen et al., 2019). This suggests that team sports might be more effective in producing positive psychological outcomes for individuals and that team sports are more efficient protective barriers against negative psychological outcomes than individual sports. Research suggests that having each other's back, trust, resilience, sacrifice, and closeness are among aspects of team sports that promote direct and indirect health benefits for the athlete (Parnell & Krustrup, 2017; Senecal, 2017).

The type of sport an athlete competes in has been revealed to be an important factor in the benefits gained by the athlete (Gerber et al., 2014; Pluhar et al., 2019). It is suggested that team sports may be more effective in producing positive mental health effects because of their sense of

community and camaraderie (Anderson et al., 2019; Parnell & Krustrup, 2017). However, there are some sports that allow you to compete as an individual and also as part of a team, for example, Irish dancing.

Irish dance culture and previous literature

Irish dancing is the native dance form of Ireland, and emerged in the 18th century (Noon et al., 2010). Since Riverdance was broadcast globally on the Eurovision song contest in the mid-1990s, Irish dancing has grown massively in popularity and it is now practised and performed competitively worldwide (Cahalan et al., 2018). Irish dancing differs from other sports in its nature, technique, judging, complex movements, and overall culture (Foley, 2020; Wulff, 2005). The competitive sport of Irish dance is designed so that dancers start at a beginner level known as 'Bun grad', and through success at dance competitions, they can advance up to the top level known as 'championship' (Cahalan et al., 2018). The technique and movements of Irish dance involve rapid and repetitive lower body movement, high-impact lower extremity movements which require strength and stability, and jumps that demand core strength all while keeping the upper body completely upright and stiff with the arms tucked by the side of the body (Noon et al., 2010). Research using biomechanical modelling shows that certain Irish dance techniques can produce contact forces at just the ankle joint to be up to 14 times body weight (Shippen & May, 2010). Multiple cross-sectional studies and a semi-structured qualitative study investigated injury in competitive and professional Irish dancers (Cahalan et al., 2015; Cahalan et al., 2018; Cahalan & O'Sullivan, 2013; Pentith & Mcevilly, 2018). The primary reasons for injury were found to be overuse, repetitive movements, accidents, fatigue, and unsafe flooring, with injury rates for participants in the various studies ranging from 76.6% to 84% (Cahalan et al., 2015; Cahalan et al., 2018). Along with the intense physical demands of Irish dance, there is certain aesthetics to

competing that are unique to its culture. Diamantes, sequins, and striking patterns are among the common themes seen in Irish dance costumes alongside the use of wigs, stage makeup and dark false tan on the legs (Mollenhauer, 2019; Varade, 2015). An Irish dance costume for a 'championship' dancer can cost around \notin 2000 (Harris, 2018). Appearance has proven to be an important part of competing as if an adjudicator is contemplating between two dancers as to who will get the first place, the adjudicator will often look at the costume and overall appearance to help them decide (Hall, 2008). This is similar to ballet, gymnastics, and other forms of dance where aesthetics can be involved in the scoring (Davison et al., 2002), but contrasts with other competitive sports like rugby, basketball, hockey, and cricket (Arnold, 1978; Toner & Montero, 2020).

Irish dance is a highly competitive sport that is popular, especially in Ireland but there is research lacking on the psychological outcomes on individuals of such a unique sport (Pentith & Mcevilly, 2018). With 25,000 spectators and over 3,500 competitors attending the biggest event of the Irish dance season each year, the 'world championships', the scientific and psychological research on potential positive or negative outcomes of such a popular competitive sport is lacking (Armstrong, 2017; McGonagle, 2022). As per the previous literature surrounding competitive sport, there have been differences shown in psychological outcomes between team sports and individual sports. Irish dance is unique in the fact that you can compete at championship level as a solo dancer, a team dancer, or even both (Roddy, 2022).

Rationale for the current study

From the findings of previous research, exercise and sport have proven to have the potential to have significant positive impacts on mental health (Hajkowicz et al., 2013; Ruegsegger & Booth, 2018). Competitive sports may have the potential to help individuals manage personal

psychological problems like depression and anxiety which are incredibly influential on an individual's quality of life, prevention of disease, and overall well-being (Cho et al., 2019; Hidaka, 2012; Sheridan et al., 2015). This explains the importance of researching the positive effects of less researched areas of competitive sport like Irish dance so that the benefits are understood and hence, the youth can be encouraged to get involved.

Furthermore, there are also inconsistencies observed from the literature findings on the effects of competitive sports and this contrasting view needs to be investigated. There are many studies that have found negative psychological effects of competitive sports (Bean et al., 2014; Merkel, 2013; Myer et al., 2015). The conflicting literature findings regarding the impacts of competitive sport need to be investigated further so that the factors which influence a positive or negative outcome can be identified. A possible determining factor could be whether it is a team or an individual sport or moreover, if the athlete is involved in both team and individual competition. The opposing findings preclude researchers from stating firm conclusions on the effects of competitive sport.

The current study

From the minimal previous research surrounding competitive sport and the various gaps in the literature, the current study is necessary and important to individuals and can improve their mental health. The current study aims to investigate psychological differences in outcomes for solo vs team Irish dancers with a focus on anxiety levels and stress management abilities. To do this, the research aims to explore the relationship between Irish dancing as a solo competitor, team competitor, or both, and test if there is a difference in outcomes on anxiety level and stress management ability as an adult. The current study aims to investigate the correlation, if any, between the type of Irish dancing and the level of competitive Irish dance with anxiety level and stress management ability and expand on the current body of literature surrounding the sport of Irish dance.

The research questions include, 1. Is there a difference in psychological outcomes of anxiety and stress management ability between solo dancers, team dancers, and those who did both solo and teams? 2. Does the type and level of competitive Irish dance affect the benefits obtained by the individual in relation to anxiety and stress management? 3. Is there a difference between those Irish dancing at a high level vs those dancing at a low level on the outcome of stress and anxiety?

The hypothesis for the current study is that people who did competitive Irish dance at a high level as an individual/ team dancer/ or both, will have different psychological outcomes regarding anxiety and stress management than Irish dancers who competed at a lower level and/or in a different category.

Methods

Participants

The participants were recruited through convenience sampling using the researcher's personal social media account on Instagram. This ensured that many current and past Irish dancers had the opportunity to participate in the study as the researcher's following on Instagram contains many Irish dancers. A brief description of the study and a link to the survey was published for 24 hours and shared by two popular Irish dancing Instagram accounts the researcher had contacted due to their demographic audience. A total of 179 responses were recorded of which 149 were eligible to be used as 30 participants were excluded from the analyses as they were under the age of 18. No incentives were used for recruitment.

Measures

Demographics and Irish dance. The questionnaire was created using Google Forms and following the information sheet and consent process, a range of demographic questions were asked in relation to age, gender, and current status e.g., secondary school student, college student, employment or other. Several Irish dancing questions were then recorded, and they included information relating to whether they danced as a team competitor, individual or both, the level at which they competed and their current situation or plans that involve the continuation/or not of Irish dance in their lives, e.g., 'do you aim to/have you become a qualified Irish dance teacher?'.

Anxiety. The Liebowitz Social Anxiety Self-Report scale (LSAS-SR) was then used to test fear and avoidance of 24 social situations in which the participant self-reported their response on two four-point Likert-type scales (Liebowitz, 1987). The fear Likert-type scale ranged from 1 (*no fear*) to 4 (*severe fear*). The avoidance Likert-type scale ranged from 1 (*never avoid, 0%*) to 4 (*usually avoid, 66-100%*). "*Talking to people of authority*", is an example of a social situation in which they recorded their fear and avoidance. The LSAS-SR is the self-report version of the scale and is indistinguishable from the reliable Liebowitz Social Anxiety scale (LSAS) only it doesn't need a clinician and participants record their own responses (Rytwinski et al., 2009). Research has tested the psychometric properties and found good internal consistency and discriminant validity, hence the LSAS-SR was deemed an applicable version of the clinician-administered LSAS (Fresco et al., 2001; Kobak et al., 1998; Oakman et al., 2002).

Stress management. The Perceived Stress scale (PSS-10) was used to measure the degree of stress experienced by participants in situations in their life during the last month (Cohen et al., 1983). It is a 10-item scale with questions asking about how overloaded, uncontrollable, and

unpredictable participants find their own lives and answers vary from 0 (*never*) to 4 (*very often*) (Cohen et al., 1983). An example of an item would be "*In the last month, how often have you felt nervous and stressed*?". The PSS-10 has shown ample reliability and validity throughout the research with Cronbach's alpha ranging from 0.75 to 0.91 (Siqueira Reis et al., 2010).

Design

The research adopted a cross-sectional research design and used a quantitative approach. A Cronbach's alpha was used to investigate the internal consistency of the Continuation of Irish dance questions. Independent samples t-test analyses were used to investigate the first research question regarding differences in solo Irish dancers and Irish dancers who did both solos and teams (IVs) on the outcomes of anxiety and stress (DVs). Multiple regression analyses were performed to examine if the type or level of Irish dance (IVs) affected the benefits obtained by the individual in relation to anxiety and stress (DVs). A Mann-Whitney U-test was then used to see if there was a difference between those whom Irish danced at a high intensity and those whom Irish danced at a low intensity (IVs) on the outcomes of anxiety and stress (DVs).

Procedures

Data was collected through an online survey which was posted on the researcher's personal Instagram account for 24 hours and was accessible via a link. Two popular Irish dance Instagram accounts reposted this to reach the specialised demographic and gather suitable participants. Once into the questionnaire, participants would be presented with an information sheet stating a description of the study, eligibility requirements, what was involved and any risks/benefits (See appendix A). A consent sheet was then provided with which they had to give consent to proceed with the questionnaire (See appendix B). The consent sheet states that they

can exit the study at any time without consequences and the questionnaire takes roughly 10 minutes to complete.

After consent was obtained the participants answered basic demographic questions, followed by some Irish dance-related questions, and then onto the Liebowitz Social Anxiety Scale Self-Report (See appendix D) and finally, the Perceived Stress Scale (See appendix E). Proceeding this, the debriefing sheet was provided in which a thank you from the researcher was written, support services were provided should the participants have suffered any stress and the appropriate contact details of the researcher and supervisor were given (See Appendix C).

The study was conducted per the ethical guidelines of NCI and following the Psychological Society of Ireland Code of Professional Ethics (2019). The research study was approved by the ethics committee at NCI. As stated previously, risks/benefits were explained in the information sheet and details for support services were provided in the debriefing sheet should the participants have suffered any stress from the questionnaire.

Results

Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistics were conducted on the current sample of 149 participants (n = 149) which consisted of 95.3% females (n = 142) and 4.0% males (n = 6), and 0.7% chose the option 'prefer not to say' (n = 1). Additionally, 51.7% were college students (n = 77), 16.8% were secondary school students (n = 25), 29.5% were in employment (n = 44) and 2.0% selected the option other/prefer not to say (n = 3). Among the participants, 50.3% competed as a solo Irish dancer (n = 75), 2.0% competed as part of a (céilí) team (n = 3), and 47.7% competed as both a solo and team Irish dance competitor (n = 71). Of which, 87.9% competed at championship level

(n = 131), 8.1% competed at prelim level (n = 12), 2.0% at mean grad level (n = 3), 1.3% at Tus grad level (n = 2), and 0.7% at Bun grad level (n = 1). The frequencies for all categorical variables are presented in Table 1 below.

Table 1

Frequencies for all categorical variables (n = 149)

Variable	Frequency	Valid %
Gender		
Male	6	4.0%
Female	142	95.3%
Prefer not to say	1	0.7%
Current status		
College students	77	51.7%
Secondary school student	25	16.8%
Employment	44	29.5%
Other/prefer not to say	3	2.0%
Competed in Irish dance as		
A solo/individual dancer	75	50.3%
Part of a (céilí) team	3	2.0%
Or both	71	47.7%
Competed at		
Bun grad level	1	0.7%
Tus grad level	2	1.3%
Mean grad level	3	2.0%

Prelim level	12	8.1%
Open championship level	131	87.9%

Inferential Statistics

Reliability Analysis

Reliability analysis was assessed on 4 items on the 'Continuation of Irish dance' using Cronbach's alpha. The value of Cronbach's alpha was $\alpha = .7$ meaning the results of the reliability analysis revealed acceptable reliability for each of the 4 constructs.

Preliminary analysis of the data indicated that the variables of interest were normally distributed (Shapiro-Wilk, p > 0.05). It was therefore acceptable to run the parametric test, the independent samples t-test. An independent samples t-test was conducted to analyse the differences between solo Irish dancers and Irish dancers that competed as solo and team competitors (IV) on the outcome of anxiety (DV). Originally there was another independent variable the Irish dancers who competed as just team dancers but there were only 2 participants that selected this option, therefore, this variable was excluded from the analysis. There was no significant difference found in anxiety scores for solo Irish dancers (M = 101.03, SD = 28.65) and Irish dancers that did both solo and teams (M = 105.75, SD = 27.49; t(144) = -1.02, p = .787, two-tailed). The magnitude of differences in the means (mean difference = -4.72, 95% CI [-13.91, 4.48]) was small (Cohen's d = .168).

An additional independent samples t-test was conducted following preliminary analyses which stated it was acceptable to run the parametric test. This analysed the difference between solo Irish dancers and Irish dancers that competed as solo and team competitors (IV) on the outcome of stress (DV). Originally there was another independent variable the Irish dancers who competed as just team dancers but there were only 2 participants that selected this option, therefore, this variable was excluded from the analysis. There was no significant difference found in stress scores for solo Irish dancers (M = 31.13, SD = 7.37) and Irish dancers that did both solo and teams (M = 32.55, SD = 6.87; t(144) = -1.2, p = .232, two-tailed). The magnitude of differences in the means (mean difference = -1.42, 95% CI [-3.75, .92]) was small (Cohen's d= .2).

Multiple regression model was performed to determine if the type or level of Irish dance affected the benefits obtained by the individual in relation to anxiety and stress. Preliminary analyses were conducted to ensure no violation of the assumptions of normality, linearity, and homoscedasticity. Additionally, the correlation between the predictor variables included in the study were examined. The correlation was weak r = .05. Tests for multicollinearity indicated that all Tolerance and VIF values were in an acceptable range and indicated that there was no violation of the assumption of multicollinearity and that the data was suitable for examination through multiple linear regression analysis.

Since no a *priori* hypotheses had been made to determine the order of entry of the predictor variables, a direct method was used for the multiple linear regression analysis. The independent variables explained 1.2% of the variance in anxiety levels (F(2, 146) = .92, p = .402). Furthermore, the independent variables explained 1.2% of the variance in stress levels (F(2, 146) = .86, p = .424). In the final model, none of the variables were found to be significant predictors of stress or anxiety (see Table 2).

Table 2

Standard multiple regression model predicting anxiety and stress

Variable	R^2	В	SE	β	t	р

Anxiety						
Model	.012					
Type of Irish dance		2.24	2.33	.08	.96	.338
Level of Irish dance		3.51	3.88	.08	.91	.367
Stress						
Model	.012					
Type of Irish dance		.688	.593	.096	1.16	.248
Level of Irish dance		.551	.986	.046	.559	.577

Preliminary analysis of the data indicated that the variable of interest regarding the final research question was not normally distributed (Shapiro-Wilk, p < .001). It was therefore necessary to use the Mann-Whitney U-test as the non-parametric alternative of the independent samples t-test. This was used to investigate if there is a difference between those whom Irish danced at a high intensity and those whom Irish danced at a low intensity (IV) on the outcome of anxiety (DV). A Mann-Whitney U-Test revealed no significant difference in anxiety scores of high-intensity Irish dancers (Md = 101, n = 131) and low-intensity Irish dancers (Md = 102, n = 18), U = 1127, z = -.30, p = .762, r = .02.

An additional Mann-Whitney U-Test was conducted to investigate if there is a difference between those whom Irish danced at a high intensity and those whom Irish danced at a low intensity (IV) on the outcome of stress (DV). It revealed no significant difference in stress scores of high-intensity Irish dancers (Md = 32, n = 131) and low-intensity Irish dancers (Md = 29, n =18), U = 1359, z = 1.05, p = .294, r = .09.

Discussion

In the current study, the aim was to investigate psychological differences between solo vs team Irish dancers vs those that did both solo and teams, with a focus on anxiety levels and stress management abilities. To do this, the research aimed to explore the relationship between Irish dancing as a solo competitor, team competitor, or both, and test if a significant difference existed in outcomes of anxiety level and stress among the participants. The study sought to provide a greater understanding of the psychological outcomes of a less researched competitive sport but still popular, especially in an Irish context. Furthermore, it aimed to discover which factors can affect such psychological outcomes e.g., the type or level of Irish dance. Three key research questions were designed to be answered and they were as follows; is there a difference in psychological outcomes of anxiety and stress management ability between solo dancers, team dancers, and those who did both solo and teams? Does the type and level of competitive Irish dance affect the benefits obtained by the individual in relation to anxiety and stress management? And finally, is there a difference between those Irish dancing at a high level vs those dancing at a low level on the outcome of stress and anxiety? It was hypothesized, from prior literature, that people who did competitive Irish dance at a high level as an individual/ team dancer/ or both, would have different psychological outcomes regarding anxiety and stress management than Irish dancers who competed at a lower level and/or in a different category.

For the first research question regarding any differences in psychological outcomes on anxiety and stress between solo Irish dancers, team Irish dancers, and those that did both, the research question was altered slightly after the collection of data from the google form was analyzed. The variable of competing as just a team Irish dancer was excluded from the inferential analysis as the google form showed that there were only 2 participants out of the whole sample who selected this option and therefore it would not be meaningful to be compared to the other two variables which took nearly even parts of the remaining sample. Independent samples t-test analyses were run which included two independent variables, solo Irish dancers and Irish dancers who did both solos and teams and there were no significant differences found between these two variables on the outcomes of stress and anxiety levels.

The second research question investigated if the type and level of competitive Irish dance have an effect on the benefits obtained by the individual in relation to anxiety and stress management. Multiple regression analyses concluded that the correlation was weak and that the type and level of Irish dance were not significant predictors of anxiety or stress outcomes. This contradicts previous literature which found that type of competitive sport had a significant influence on psychological outcomes (Gerber et al., 2014; Ottesen et al., 2010; Thorpe et al., 2014). The independent variables predicted 1.2% of the variance in anxiety and stress levels.

The third research question regarding if there is a difference between those Irish dancing at a high level vs those dancing at a low level on the outcomes of stress and anxiety found no significant difference from the results and this finding also contradicts the existing research which found the level of competition to be a significant predictor of psychological benefits attained by the individual (Holland & Andre, 1987; McFadden et al., 2016).

Overall, the findings do not support the hypothesis that people who did competitive Irish dance at a high level as an individual/ team dancer/ or both, have different psychological outcomes regarding anxiety and stress management than Irish dancers who competed at a lower level and/or in a different category. The current findings are inconsistent with the previous literature, and they challenge the conventional paradigm that those who engage in team sports as opposed to solo sports have better psychological outcomes (Anderson et al., 2019). As

mentioned formerly, the previous literature showed both positive and negative effects of competitive sport and the previously identified negative effects from other studies, may provide reasoning for why the current study did not find significant differences. The most prominent and common negative impacts of competitive sports which were identified include injuries and burnout. A possible explanation for this study's findings is that injuries and burnout were not taken into account. Injuries have been proven to be common among Irish dancers with studies investigating injuries in professional and competitive Irish dancers showing the lowest rate of injury among participants to be 76% (Cahalan et al., 2015; Cahalan et al., 2018). Importantly, previous studies on injury in sports show injury prevalence rates among Irish dancers to be higher than injury prevalence rates among other genres of dance (Gamboa et al., 2008; Noon et al., 2010; Steinberg et al., 2011). Previous studies also show that most Irish dancers have multiple injuries, a higher level of competitive Irish dance positively correlates with increased injury, and that 'dancing through the pain' is a common theme in the culture of Irish dance (Cahalan & O'Sullivan, 2013; Noon et al., 2010; Pentith & Mcevilly, 2018). The lack of consideration of injury in this study could provide a possible explanation for the findings as injury is one of the strongest predictors of negative impacts from sport and injuries are quite prevalent among Irish dancers.

Burnout is another strong predictor of negative outcomes from sports and previous research states that overuse and overwork are among possible predictors of burnout (DiFiori et al., 2014). Overuse and overwork are among common themes seen in Irish dance across the literature (Cahalan et al., 2018; Cahalan & O'Sullivan, 2013). Another predictor of burnout is increased awareness of the physical consequences of participation (Feigley, 1984) and as mentioned previously, in Irish dance, physical consequences e.g., injury, is common (Cahalan et al., 2014).

al., 2015). This could provide a possible reason for the current findings as burnout could be common among the participants of the study because of the overuse, overwork and injury that is seen in Irish dance from the previous studies.

Another important aspect of the current study and its findings is that it was based on the previous literature around competitive sport and that research states that when sports are done appropriately and when following ethical rules, it can positively influence mental health (Appelqvist-Schmidlechner et al., 2017). However, in the current climate, the recent scandal surrounding Irish dance exposed Irish dance teachers and adjudicators breaching ethical rules and cheating by 'fixing' Irish dance competitions and even providing sexual favours in return for higher scores at competitions (Carswell, 2022). The breaching of ethical rules by Irish dance teachers and adjudicators shows that important pillars of the Irish dance community i.e., qualified teachers and adjudicators, have not been following ethical rules as of recently and this may have an impact on the potential positive outcomes obtained by Irish dancers from their sport. Corruption in sport does have identified negative consequences such as significant social marginal damage, loss of image for the sporting organization and it distorts honesty, fair play, and trust in the game (Dimant & Deutscher, 2015; Maennig, 2005). A study conducted with adult athletes stated that in children's sports, the adults i.e., the parent/teacher initiates the cheating, and it is vital the children do not believe they can benefit from cheating, and they retain moral attitudes and values towards competitive sport (Šukys et al., 2019). The current study coincided with the Irish dance scandal released in the media, and this possibly had an impact on the results. Future studies also may produce different findings as the cheating scandal continues. Getting caught cheating damages the reputation of the dancer and dance teacher and it questions all their past achievements (Gaudreau & Schellenberg, 2022). This may have significant impacts on the

dancer's positive psychological outcomes from Irish dance and should be considered in future studies. A recent study conducted on cheating in sports also found that coaches may be more likely to use illicit tactics in social contexts where cheating is more morally indefensible, meaning children's sports may be more susceptible to cheating rather than professional sports (Gaudreau & Schellenberg, 2022). Future research should consider these influential components that are eminent in the culture of Irish dance to try and produce generalisable and accurate findings. All the components of competitive sport and the culture of Irish dance mentioned should be considered by researchers when conducting further studies on the topic.

Implications

As the findings from this study were not significant, future research is needed to provide sufficient information on why this research contrasts with previous findings and why the level and type of competition have been seen as influential components related to psychological benefits obtained but are not evident in the current study. As the type and level of Irish dance did not have a significant impact on the psychological benefits obtained by the participants, this may imply that these factors do not influence psychological outcomes of anxiety and stress and that competing in Irish dance alone, provides benefits for the participant regardless of type and level. The results may be similar to some forms of exercise, e.g., aerobic exercise. A meta-analytic review found that low-moderate intensity aerobic exercise had moderate effects on psychological health and deduced that even low-intensity exercise can produce significant positive effects on mental health due to the neurotrophic growth factors released when exercising and that high-intensity exercise was not necessary to seek the benefits (Rebar et al., 2015). The level of aerobic exercise did not have significant differences in mental health, but the overall effect of it provided positive outcomes. The findings indicate that dancers/parents should choose the type/level of

Irish dance based on their own goals and preferences as no type/level has been discovered at being better at producing psychological benefits for anxiety and stress levels. Dance teachers and dance associations should be aware of this, and they should encourage participation in Irish dance at all levels and all types. Conversely, the results may indicate that the factors related to competitive Irish dance e.g., performance pressure, aesthetic requirements, and fear of failure are more influential than the type/level of Irish dance on the psychological benefits. This would support similar research previously conducted on youth sports competition which showed how competitive factors can influence mental health (Bean et al., 2014; Turocy et al., 2011). Dance teachers and dance associations, providing further research on the area, could encourage their dancers to utilize tools that help minimize the pressures of competition e.g., diaphragmatic breathing and positive self-talk (Ma et al., 2017; Santos-Rosa et al., 2022).

Limitations and strengths

There are several limitations to the current study. The sample size was small, and the participants were found using convenience sampling. This method limits the generalisability of the study. There was also a significant difference in the male-to-female ratio of participants with 95.3% of participants being female, 4% being male and 0.7% selecting the option 'prefer not to say'. Future studies should aim to recruit a larger sample of participants, reduce sampling bias by using a different sampling method, and attempt to equalise the male-to-female ratio to make the results more generalisable. Another limitation would be that all scales used in the study to gather data were self-report measures. This exposes the data to self-selecting bias meaning it may not be entirely accurate of the participant's overall feelings and may have been influenced by feelings felt at the time of completing the online form. The cross-sectional nature of the study also poses a limitation as no causality can be inferred. Along with limitations, there are some strengths to

the study. It was inexpensive as all the data collection was done using google forms which allow the creation of online surveys for free. The study was fast and time efficient as the Instagram advertisement was only published for 24 hours and it recruited 179 participants, of which 30 had to be excluded as they were underage. Another strength is that when Cronbach's alpha was used, it concluded that the four Irish dance questions which were asked in relation to the continuation of Irish dance were all of the acceptable reliability standards. Finally, although there were no significant differences found, the study attempted to expand upon the research of competitive sport in a unique way by investigating a less researched sport in the existing literature, Irish dancing, and this is also among the strengths of the study.

Conclusion

The current study did not find any significant differences in psychological outcomes of anxiety and stress between Irish dancers who competed at different levels of competition or in different types of Irish dance e.g., solo Irish dance, team Irish dance, or both solo and team Irish dance. Although research has seen a difference in psychological outcomes of these items in other sports, no difference was found in Irish dance. This study attempted to provide further information on sporting components that affect psychological outcomes in a novel and lessresearched sport which is popular, especially in an Irish context. Further research should consider the other possible influential factors that may make Irish dance different to the other sports found in the existing literature and this may help to identify if any, which components can positively impact psychological outcomes in the sport of Irish dance.

References

- Aarons, G. A., Monn, A. R., Leslie, L. K., Garland, A., Lugo, L., Hough, R. L., & Brown, S. A. (2008). The Association of Mental and Physical Health Problems in High-Risk
 Adolescents: A Longitudinal Study. *The Journal of Adolescent Health : Official Publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine*, 43(3), 260–267.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2008.01.013
- Ahmad, A. M. (2022). The benefits of physical exercises for mental health in the COVID-19 era: an indirect role for suicide prevention. *Neuropsychiatry & Neuropsychology / Neuropsychiatria I Neuropsychologia*, 17(1/2), 122–123. https://doi.org/10.5114/nan.2022.117049
- American Psychological Association. (2021). Anxiety. *Https://Www.apa.org*. https://www.apa.org/topics/anxiety#:~:text=Anxiety%20is%20an%20emotion%20charac terized
- Andersen, M. H., Ottesen, L., & Thing, L. F. (2019). The social and psychological health outcomes of team sport participation in adults: An integrative review of research. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 47(8), 832–850. https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494818791405
- Angelova, V., Giebe, T., & Ivanova-Stenzel, R. (2022). Competition and fatigue. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, 198, 236–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2022.03.032
- Angrist, J. D., & Krueger, A. B. (2001). Instrumental Variables and the Search for Identification:
 From Supply and Demand to Natural Experiments. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, *15*(4), 69–85. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.15.4.69

- Appelqvist-Schmidlechner, K., Vaara, J., Häkkinen, A., Vasankari, T., Mäkinen, J., Mäntysaari, M., & Kyröläinen, H. (2017). Relationships Between Youth Sports Participation and Mental Health in Young Adulthood Among Finnish Males. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 32(7), 1502–1509. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117117746336
- Aquin, J. P., El-Gabalawy, R., Sala, T., & Sareen, J. (2017). Anxiety Disorders and General Medical Conditions: Current Research and Future Directions. *Focus (American Psychiatric Publishing)*, 15(2), 173–181. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.focus.20160044

Armstrong, K. (2017, April 11). RTE urged to air World Irish Dancing Championships: "I don't think people realise how much talent there is." Independent. https://www.independent.ie/irish-news/news/rte-urged-to-air-world-irish-dancingchampionships-i-dont-think-people-realise-how-much-talent-there-is-35614097.html

- Arnold, P. J. (1978). Aesthetic Aspects of Sport. *International Review of Sport Sociology*, *13*(3), 45–63. https://doi.org/10.1177/101269027801300303
- Bean, C., Fortier, M., Post, C., & Chima, K. (2014). Understanding How Organized Youth Sport May Be Harming Individual Players within the Family Unit: A Literature Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 11(10), 10226– 10268. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph111010226
- Bean, C., McFadden, T., Fortier, M., & Forneris, T. (2019). Understanding the relationships between programme quality, psychological needs satisfaction, and mental well-being in competitive youth sport. *International Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/1612197x.2019.1655774

- Bell, D. (2021, April 7). World Health Survey: Over half of all young adults in Ireland feeling regularly stressed. RedC Research & Marketing. https://www.redcresearch.ie/worldhealth-survey-over-half-of-all-young-adults-in-ireland-feeling-regularly-stressed/
- Biddle, S., & Mutrie, N. (2008). *Psychology of physical activity : determinants, well-being, and interventions*. Routledge.
- Bielak, A. A. M., Cherbuin, N., Bunce, D., & Anstey, K. J. (2014). Preserved Differentiation
 Between Physical Activity and Cognitive Performance Across Young, Middle, and Older
 Adulthood Over 8 Years. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 69(4), 523–532. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbu016
- Blanco-García, C., Acebes-Sánchez, J., Rodriguez-Romo, G., & Mon-López, D. (2021).
 Resilience in Sports: Sport Type, Gender, Age and Sport Level Differences. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(15), 8196.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18158196
- Buser, T., Dreber, A., & Mollerstrom, J. (2016). The impact of stress on tournament entry. *Experimental Economics*, 20(2), 506–530. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10683-016-9496-x
- Butterworth, P., Leach, L. S., Pirkis, J., & Kelaher, M. (2011). Poor mental health influences risk and duration of unemployment: a prospective study. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 47(6), 1013–1021. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-011-0409-1
- Cahalan, R., Bargary, N., & O'Sullivan, K. (2018). Pain and Injury in Elite Adolescent Irish Dancers: A Cross-Sectional Study. *Journal of Dance Medicine & Science*, 22(2), 91–99. https://doi.org/10.12678/1089-313x.22.2.91
- Cahalan, R., & O'Sullivan, K. (2013). Injury in Professional Irish Dancers. *Journal of Dance Medicine & Science*, *17*(4), 150–158. https://doi.org/10.12678/1089-313x.17.4.150

- Cahalan, R., Purtill, H., O'Sullivan, P., & O'Sullivan, K. (2015). A Cross-Sectional Study of Elite Adult Irish Dancers: Biopsychosocial Traits, Pain, and Injury. *Journal of Dance Medicine & Science*, 19(1), 31–43. https://doi.org/10.12678/1089-313x.19.1.31
- Carrasco Páez, L., & Martínez-Díaz, I. C. (2021). Training vs. Competition in Sport: State Anxiety and Response of Stress Hormones in Young Swimmers. *Journal of Human Kinetics*, 80(1), 103–112. https://doi.org/10.2478/hukin-2021-0087
- Carswell, S. (2022, December 23). Irish dancing: Claims of competition fixes, sexual favours detailed in court challenge. The Irish Times. https://www.irishtimes.com/crime-law/courts/2022/12/23/high-court-hears-claims-of-competition-fixes-and-sexual-favours-in-irish-dancing/
- Childs, E., & de Wit, H. (2014). Regular exercise is associated with emotional resilience to acute stress in healthy adults. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 5(161). https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2014.00161
- Cho, Y., Lee, J. K., Kim, D.-H., Park, J.-H., Choi, M., Kim, H.-J., Nam, M.-J., Lee, K.-U., Han, K., & Park, Y.-G. (2019). Factors associated with quality of life in patients with depression: A nationwide population-based study. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(7), e0219455. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0219455
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A global measure of perceived stress. Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 24(4), 385–396.
- Connell, J., Brazier, J., O'Cathain, A., Lloyd-Jones, M., & Paisley, S. (2012). Quality of life of people with mental health problems: a synthesis of qualitative research. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 10(1), 138. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-10-138

Cui, K., & Xie, H. (2022). Correction to: Intrapersonal and Interpersonal Sources of Resilience: Mechanisms of the Relationship Between Bullying Victimization and Mental Health Among Migrant Children in China. *Applied Research in Quality of Life*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11482-021-10006-y

- Dagnino-Subiabre, A. (2022). Resilience to stress and social touch. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, 43, 75–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2021.08.011
- Davison, K. K., Earnest, M. B., & Birch, L. L. (2002). Participation in Aesthetic Sports and Girls' Weight Concerns at Ages 5 and 7 Years. *The International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 31(3), 312–317. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.10043
- de Grace, L. A., Knight, C. J., Rodgers, W. M., & Clark, A. M. (2017). Exploring the role of sport in the development of substance addiction. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 28, 46–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2016.10.001
- Dickerson, S. S., & Kemeny, M. E. (2004). Acute Stressors and Cortisol Responses: A Theoretical Integration and Synthesis of Laboratory Research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *130*(3), 355–391. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.130.3.355
- DiFiori, J. P., Benjamin, H. J., Brenner, J. S., Gregory, A., Jayanthi, N., Landry, G. L., & Luke,
 A. (2014). Overuse injuries and burnout in youth sports: a position statement from the
 American Medical Society for Sports Medicine. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*,
 48(4), 287–288. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2013-093299
- Dimant, E., & Deutscher, C. (2015). The Economics of Corruption in Sports: The Special Case of Doping. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2546029
- Elrick, H. (1996). Exercise is medicine. *The Physician and Sportsmedicine*, *24*(2), 72–76. https://doi.org/10.3810/psm.1996.02.1234

- Evans, L., & Hardy, L. (1995). Sport Injury and Grief Responses: A Review. Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology, 17(3), 227–245. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsep.17.3.227
- Eysenck, M. W., Derakshan, N., Santos, R., & Calvo, M. G. (2007). Anxiety and cognitive performance: Attentional control theory. *Emotion*, 7(2), 336–353. https://doi.org/10.1037/1528-3542.7.2.336
- Feigley, D. A. (1984). Psychological Burnout in High-Level Athletes. *The Physician and Sportsmedicine*, *12*(10), 108–119. https://doi.org/10.1080/00913847.1984.11701971

Fletcher, D., & Sarkar, M. (2012). A grounded theory of psychological resilience in Olympic champions. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 13(5), 669–678. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2012.04.007

- Fletcher, D., & Sarkar, M. (2016). Mental fortitude training: An evidence-based approach to developing psychological resilience for sustained success. *Journal of Sport Psychology in Action*, 7(3), 135–157. https://doi.org/10.1080/21520704.2016.1255496
- Foley, C. E. (2020). Steps, style and sensing the difference: transmission and the recontextualisation of Molyneaux's traditional set dances within the Irish traditional dance competitive arena. *Research in Dance Education*, 21(3), 312–327. https://doi.org/10.1080/14647893.2020.1776242
- Ford, J., Ildefonso, K., Jones, M., & Arvinen-Barrow, M. (2017). Sport-related anxiety: current insights. Open Access Journal of Sports Medicine, Volume 8(1), 205–212. https://doi.org/10.2147/oajsm.s125845
- Fresco, D. M., Coles, M. E., Heimberg, R. G., Liebowitz, M. R., Hami, S., Stein, M. B., & Goetz, D. (2001). The Liebowitz Social Anxiety Scale: a comparison of the psychometric

properties of self-report and clinician-administered formats. *Psychological Medicine*, *31*(6), 1025–1035. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291701004056

Gale, C., & Oakley-Browne, M. (2004). Generalised anxiety disorder. *Evidence-Based Mental Health*, 7(2), 32–33. https://doi.org/10.1136/ebmh.7.2.32

Gamboa, J. M., Roberts, L. A., Maring, J., & Fergus, A. (2008). Injury Patterns in Elite
Preprofessional Ballet Dancers and the Utility of Screening Programs to Identify Risk
Characteristics. *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy*, 38(3), 126–136.
https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2008.2390

- Gaudreau, P., & Schellenberg, B. J. I. (2022). Attitudes of Sport Fans Toward the Electronic
 Sign-Stealing Scandal in Major League Baseball: Differing Associations With
 Perfectionism and Excellencism. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, 44(3), 220–229. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsep.2021-0136
- Gerber, M., Brand, S., Elliot, C., Holsboer-Trachsler, E., & Pühse, U. (2014). Aerobic Exercise,
 Ball Sports, Dancing, and Weight Lifting as Moderators of the Relationship between
 Stress and Depressive Symptoms: An Exploratory Cross-Sectional Study with Swiss
 University Students. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, *119*(3), 679–697.
 https://doi.org/10.2466/06.pms.119c26z4
- Gerber, M., Kalak, N., Lemola, S., Clough, P. J., Pühse, U., Elliot, C., Holsboer-Trachsler, E., & Brand, S. (2012). Adolescents' exercise and physical activity are associated with mental toughness. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, 5(1), 35–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2012.02.004
- Glazer, J. L. (2008). Eating Disorders Among Male Athletes. *Current Sports Medicine Reports*, 7(6), 332–337. https://doi.org/10.1249/jsr.0b013e31818f03c5

- Godoy-Izquierdo, D., Ramírez, M. J., Díaz, I., & López-Mora, C. (2021). A Systematic Review on Exercise Addiction and the Disordered Eating-Eating Disorders Continuum in the Competitive Sport Context. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-021-00610-2
- Goodwin, R. D. (2003). Association between physical activity and mental disorders among adults in the United States. *Preventive Medicine*, 36(6), 698–703. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0091-7435(03)00042-2
- Grasdalsmoen, M., Eriksen, H. R., Lønning, K. J., & Sivertsen, B. (2020). Physical exercise, mental health problems, and suicide attempts in university students. *BMC Psychiatry*, 20(1), 175. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-020-02583-3
- Greenwood, B. N., Loughridge, A. B., Sadaoui, N., Christianson, J. P., & Fleshner, M. (2012).
 The protective effects of voluntary exercise against the behavioral consequences of uncontrollable stress persist despite an increase in anxiety following forced cessation of exercise. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 233(2), 314–321.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2012.05.017
- Gupta, S., & McCarthy, P. J. (2022). The sporting resilience model: A systematic review of resilience in sport performers. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.1003053
- Hajkowicz, S., Cook, H., Wilhelmseder, L., & Boughen, N. (2013). The future of Australian sport: megatrends shaping the sports sector over coming decades.

Hall, Frank. 2008. Competitive Irish Dance: Art, Sport, Duty. Madison, WI: Macater Press.Hanin, Y. L. (2000). *Emotions in sport*. Human Kinetics.

- Harris, A. (2018, March 16). "My daughter won't wear Irish dancing wigs and make-up. She thinks it's silly." The Irish Times. https://www.irishtimes.com/life-and-style/fashion/mydaughter-won-t-wear-irish-dancing-wigs-and-make-up-she-thinks-it-s-silly-1.3424347
- Hidaka, B. H. (2012). Depression as a disease of modernity: Explanations for increasing prevalence. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 140(3), 205–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2011.12.036
- Hoang, D., Kristoffersen, I., & Li, I. W. (2019). All in the mind? Estimating the effect of mental health on health behaviours. *Social Science & Medicine*, 225, 69–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.02.017
- Holland, A., & Andre, T. (1987). Participation in Extracurricular Activities in Secondary School:
 What Is Known, What Needs to Be Known? *Review of Educational Research*, *57*(4),
 437–466. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543057004437
- Hu, S., Tucker, L., Wu, C., & Yang, L. (2020). Beneficial Effects of Exercise on Depression and Anxiety During the Covid-19 Pandemic: A Narrative Review. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.587557
- Imboden, C., Claussen, M. C., Seifritz, E., & Gerber, M. (2022). The Importance of Physical Activity for Mental Health. *Praxis*, 111(4), e186–e190. https://doi.org/10.1024/1661-8157/a003820
- Javed, A., Najam, N., Niaz, U., Bughra, D., Azeem, W., & Latif, S. (2022). Speakers highlight the importance of Public Mental Health. *Pulse International*, 23(9), 1–14. https://web.s.ebscohost.com/ehost/detail/detail?vid=3&sid=612c4da5-0671-4fd2-9784-5956c792ca81%40redis&bdata=JkF1dGhUeXBIPWlwLGNvb2tpZSxzaGliJnNpdGU9Z Whvc3QtbG12ZQ%3d%3d#AN=157612949&db=a9h

- Joyce, R., & Ryan, L. (2019, December 11). *IACP releases findings of their General Public Survey 2019*. Iacp.ie. https://iacp.ie/gps2019
- Karnatak, K. (2016). Effect of deprivation, anxiety and stress on mental health of adolescents. *Indian Journal of Health & Wellbeing*, 7(11), 1088–1090. https://web.s.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=14&sid=38bf04e2-7550-4531-b29e-a9167aa92257%40redis
- Kasl, S. V. (1984). Stress and Health. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 5(1), 319–341. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pu.05.050184.001535
- Kearns, D. (2019, November 19). Steep rise in young people reporting anxiety in Ireland, UCD report finds. Www.ucd.ie. https://www.ucd.ie/newsandopinion/news/2019/november/19/steepriseinyoungpeoplerep ortinganxietyinirelanducdreportfinds/
- Kirkcaldy, B. D., Shephard, R. J., & Siefen, R. G. (2002). The relationship between physical activity and self-image and problem behaviour among adolescents. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 37(11), 544–550. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-002-0554-7
- Knight, L. K., & Depue, B. E. (2019). New Frontiers in Anxiety Research: The Translational Potential of the Bed Nucleus of the Stria Terminalis. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00510
- Kobak, K. A., Schaettle, S. C., Greist, J. H., Jefferson, J. W., Katzelnick, D. J., & Dottl, S. L. (1998). Computer-administered rating scales for social anxiety in a clinical drug trial. Depression and Anxiety, 7, 97–104.Kuntz, L. (2022). ON THIN ICE: Competitive Sports & Youth Mental Health. *Psychiatric Times*, *39*(6), 2–9.

- Kvam, S., Kleppe, C. L., Nordhus, I. H., & Hovland, A. (2016). Exercise as a treatment for depression: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 202(202), 67–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2016.03.063
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1987). Transactional theory and research on emotions and coping. *European Journal of Personality*, 1(3), 141–169. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2410010304
- Le Bouc, R., & Pessiglione, M. (2013). Imaging Social Motivation: Distinct Brain Mechanisms Drive Effort Production during Collaboration versus Competition. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(40), 15894–15902. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.0143-13.2013

Liebowitz, M. R. (1987). Social Phobia. Modern Problems in Pharmacopsychiatry, 22, 141-173.

Listra, E. (2015). The Concept of Competition and the Objectives of Competitors. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 213(1), 25–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.11.398

Lopes Dos Santos, M., Uftring, M., Stahl, C. A., Lockie, R. G., Alvar, B., Mann, J. B., & Dawes,
J. J. (2020). Stress in Academic and Athletic Performance in Collegiate Athletes: A
Narrative Review of Sources and Monitoring Strategies. *Frontiers in Sports and Active Living*, 2(42). https://doi.org/10.3389/fspor.2020.00042

Ma, X., Yue, Z.-Q., Gong, Z.-Q., Zhang, H., Duan, N.-Y., Shi, Y.-T., Wei, G.-X., & Li, Y.-F.
(2017). The Effect of Diaphragmatic Breathing on Attention, Negative Affect and Stress in Healthy Adults. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8(874), 1–12.
https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00874

Maennig, W. (2005). Corruption in International Sports and Sport Management: Forms,
 Tendencies, Extent and Countermeasures. *European Sport Management Quarterly*, 5(2),
 187–225. https://doi.org/10.1080/16184740500188821

- Malm, C., Jakobsson, J., & Isaksson, A. (2019). Physical Activity and Sports—Real Health Benefits: A Review with Insight into the Public Health of Sweden. *Sports*, 7(5), 127. https://doi.org/10.3390/sports7050127
- Marsh, H. W., Perry, C., Horsely, C., & Roche, L. (1995). Multidimensional self-concepts of elite athletes: How do they differ from the general population? *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, 17(1), 70–83.
- Martinez-Torteya, C., Anne Bogat, G., Von Eye, A., & Levendosky, A. A. (2009). Resilience Among Children Exposed to Domestic Violence: The Role of Risk and Protective Factors. *Child Development*, 80(2), 562–577. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01279.x
- Maslach, C., & Jackson, S. E. (1981). The measurement of experienced burnout. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 2(2), 99–113. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.4030020205

Masten, A. S. (2014). Ordinary magic : Resilience in Development. The Guilford Press.

- McDonald, D. G., & Hodgdon, J. A. (1991). The Psychological Effects of Aerobic Fitness Training. Springer New York.
- McFadden, T., Bean, C., Fortier, M., & Post, C. (2016). Investigating the influence of youth hockey specialization on psychological needs (dis)satisfaction, mental health, and mental illness. *Cogent Psychology*, 3(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/23311908.2016.1157975
- McGonagle, S. (2022, April 11). Irish dancing makes welcome return to Belfast for world championships. The Irish News.

https://www.irishnews.com/news/northernirelandnews/2022/04/11/news/irish-dancingmakes-welcome-return-to-belfast-for-world-irish-dancing-championships-2639167/

- McLafferty, M., Armour, C., Bunting, B., Ennis, E., Lapsley, C., Murray, E., & O'Neill, S.
 (2019). Coping, stress, and negative childhood experiences: The link to psychopathology, self-harm, and suicidal behavior. *PsyCh Journal*, 8(3), 293–306.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/pchj.301
- Merkel, D. (2013). Youth sport: positive and negative impact on young athletes. *Open Access Journal of Sports Medicine*, 4(4), 151. https://doi.org/10.2147/oajsm.s33556
- Mollenhauer, J. (2019). A Changing Focus: The Evolution of Irish Step Dancing Competitions in Australia. Dance Research Journal, 51(2), 68–85. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0149767719000196
- Mura, G., Moro, M. F., Patten, S. B., & Carta, M. G. (2014). Exercise as an add-on strategy for the treatment of major depressive disorder: a systematic review. *CNS Spectrums*, *19*(6), 496–508. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1092852913000953
- Murayama, K., & Elliot, A. J. (2012). The competition–performance relation: A meta-analytic review and test of the opposing processes model of competition and performance. *Psychological Bulletin*, 138(6), 1035–1070. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028324
- Myer, G. D., Jayanthi, N., Difiori, J. P., Faigenbaum, A. D., Kiefer, A. W., Logerstedt, D., & Micheli, L. J. (2015). Sport Specialization, Part I. Sports Health: A Multidisciplinary Approach, 7(5), 437–442. https://doi.org/10.1177/1941738115598747
- Nelson, D.W., Sleigh, M.J., & Nelson, A. (2019). Positive and negative events predict burnout and engagement in athletes and non-athletes. *The sport journal, 22*.

- Noon, M., Hoch, A. Z., McNamara, L., & Schimke, J. (2010). Injury Patterns in Female Irish Dancers. *PM&R*, 2(11), 1030–1034. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmrj.2010.05.013
- Norris, G., & Norris, H. (2021). Building Resilience Through Sport in Young People With Adverse Childhood Experiences. *Frontiers in Sports and Active Living*, *3*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fspor.2021.663587
- Oakman, J., Van Ameringen, M., Mancini, C., & Farvolden, P. (2002). A confirmatory factor analysis of a self-report version of the Liebowitz Social Anxiety Scale. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 59(1), 149–161. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.10124
- O'Leary, K. (2021). *Healthy Ireland Survey 2021 Summary Report Antibiotics 13*. https://assets.gov.ie/206555/260f3b84-bf78-41a2-91d7-f14c7c03d99f.pdf
- Okwori, G. (2022). Role of Individual, Family, and Community Resilience in Moderating
 Effects of Adverse Childhood Experiences on Mental Health Among Children. Journal of
 Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics, Publish Ahead of Print.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/dbp.00000000001076
- Ottesen, L., Jeppesen, R. S., & Krustrup, B. R. (2010). The development of social capital through football and running: studying an intervention program for inactive women. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 20, 118–131. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2010.01123.x
- Overdorf, V. G., & Gill, K. S. (1994). Body Image, Weight and Eating Concerns, and Use of Weight Control Methods among High School Female Athletes. *Women in Sport and Physical Activity Journal*, 3(2), 69–79. https://doi.org/10.1123/wspaj.3.2.69
- Parnell, D., & Krustrup, P. (2017). Sport and Health. Routledge.

Pentith, R., & Mcevilly, N. (2018). "Just stretch it out and try to dance": Young Irish dancer's views and experiences of pain and injury. *Graduate Journal of Sport, Exercise & Physical Education Research*, 10, 12–25.

https://www2.worc.ac.uk/gjseper/documents/Views_and_experiences_of_pain_and_injur y.pdf

- Pipe, A. (2001). The adverse effects of elite competition on health and well-being. *Canadian Journal of Applied Physiology = Revue Canadienne de Physiologie Appliquee*, 26 Suppl, S192-201. https://doi.org/10.1139/h2001-054
- Pluhar, E., McCracken, C., Griffith, K. L., Christino, M. A., Sugimoto, D., & Meehan, W. P. (2019). Team Sport Athletes May Be Less Likely To Suffer Anxiety or Depression than Individual Sport Athletes. *Journal of Sports Science & Medicine*, 18(3), 490–496. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6683619/
- Pyle, R. P., Mc Quivey, R. W., Brassington, G. S., & Steiner, H. (2003). High School Student Athletes: Associations Between Intensity of Participation and Health Factors. *Clinical Pediatrics*, 42(8), 697–701. https://doi.org/10.1177/000992280304200805
- Rebar, A. L., Stanton, R., Geard, D., Short, C., Duncan, M. J., & Vandelanotte, C. (2015). A meta-meta-analysis of the effect of physical activity on depression and anxiety in non-clinical adult populations. *Health Psychology Review*, 9(3), 366–378.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/17437199.2015.1022901
- Ricciardelli, L. A., & McCabe, M. P. (2004). A Biopsychosocial Model of Disordered Eating and the Pursuit of Muscularity in Adolescent Boys. *Psychological Bulletin*, 130(2), 179– 205. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.130.2.179

- Ríos, D., Cubedo, M., & Ríos, M. (2013). Graphical study of reasons for engagement in physical activity in European Union. *SpringerPlus*, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/2193-1801-2-488
- Robinson, O. J., Vytal, K., Cornwell, B. R., & Grillon, C. (2013). The impact of anxiety upon cognition: Perspectives from human threat of shock studies. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7(203). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00203
- Roddy, M. (2022, April 25). *Scoil Rince Móna Ní Rodaigh's haul of four world titles and a host of medals*. Independent. https://www.independent.ie/regionals/louth/news/scoil-rince-mona-ni-rodaighs-haul-of-four-world-titles-and-a-host-of-medals-41586979.html
- Ruegsegger, G. N., & Booth, F. W. (2018). Health Benefits of Exercise. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine*, 8(7), a029694. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a029694
- Rytwinski, N. K., Fresco, D. M., Heimberg, R. G., Coles, M. E., Liebowitz, M. R., Cissell, S., Stein, M. B., & Hofmann, S. G. (2009). Screening for social anxiety disorder with the self-report version of the Liebowitz Social Anxiety Scale. *Depression and Anxiety*, 26(1), 34–38. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20503
- Samitz, G., Egger, M., & Zwahlen, M. (2011). Domains of physical activity and all-cause mortality: systematic review and dose–response meta-analysis of cohort studies. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 40(5), 1382–1400. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyr112
- Santos-Rosa, F. J., Montero-Carretero, C., Gómez-Landero, L. A., Torregrossa, M., & Cervelló,
 E. (2022). Positive and negative spontaneous self-talk and performance in gymnastics:
 The role of contextual, personal and situational factors. *PLOS ONE*, *17*(3), e0265809.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0265809

Sarkar, M., & Page, A. E. (2020). Developing Individual and Team Resilience in Elite Sport: Research to Practice. *Journal of Sport Psychology in Action*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/21520704.2020.1861144

- Schneiderman, N., Ironson, G., & Siegel, S. D. (2015). Stress and health: Psychological, behavioral, and biological determinants. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 1(1), 607–628. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.1.102803.144141
- Senecal, G. (2017). Solidarity and camaraderie—A psychosocial examination of contact sport athletes' career transitions. *Cogent Business & Management*, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2017.1280897
- Shackman, A. J., & Fox, A. S. (2021). Two Decades of Anxiety Neuroimaging Research: New Insights and a Look to the Future. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 178(2), 106–109. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2020.20121733
- Shaw, W., Labott-Smith, S., M. Burg, M., Hostinar, C., Alen, N., A. L. van Tilburg, M., G. Bernston, G., M. Tovian, S., & Spirito, M. (2021). *Stress Effects on the body*. Apa.org. <u>https://www.apa.org/topics/stress/body#:~:text=Stress%20affects%20all%20systems%20</u> <u>of</u>
- Sheridan, Z., Boman, P., Mergler, A., & Furlong, M. J. (2015). Examining well-being, anxiety, and self-deception in university students. *Cogent Psychology*, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/23311908.2014.993850
- Shippen, J. M., & May, B. (2010). Calculation of muscle loading and joint contact forces during the rock step in Irish dance. *Journal of Dance Medicine & Science: Official Publication* of the International Association for Dance Medicine & Science, 14(1), 11–18.

- Siqueira Reis, R., Ferreira Hino, A. A., & Romélio Rodriguez Añez, C. (2010). Perceived Stress Scale. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 15(1), 107–114. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105309346343
- Smolak, L., Murnen, S. K., & Ruble, A. E. (2000). Female athletes and eating problems: A metaanalysis. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 27(4), 371–380.
- Snyder, E. E. (1975). Athletic team involvement, educational plans, and the coach-player relationship. Adolescence, 10, 191-200.

Southwick, S. M., & Charney, D. S. (2012). The Science of Resilience: Implications for the Prevention and Treatment of Depression. *Science*, 338(6103), 79–82. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1222942

- Steimer, T. (2002). The biology of fear- and anxiety-related behaviors. *Cerebral Aging*, 4(3), 231–249. https://doi.org/10.31887/dcns.2002.4.3/tsteimer
- Steinberg, N., Siev-Ner, I., Peleg, S., Dar, G., Masharawi, Y., Zeev, A., & Hershkovitz, I. (2011). Injury patterns in young, non-professional dancers. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 29(1), 47–54. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2010.521167
- Šukys, S., Karanauskienė, D., & Šmigelskaitė, J. (2019). Qualitative investigation of athletes' perceptions of cheating in sport. *Baltic Journal of Sport and Health Sciences*, *3*(114). https://doi.org/10.33607/bjshs.v3i114.808
- Sundgot-Borgen, J. (1994). Eating Disorders in Female Athletes. *Sports Medicine*, *17*(3), 176–188. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-199417030-00004
- Terry-McElrath, Y. M., & O'Malley, P. M. (2011). Substance use and exercise participation among young adults: parallel trajectories in a national cohort-sequential study. *Addiction*, *106*(10), 1855–1865. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2011.03489.x

- The Psychological Society of Ireland. (2019). *Code of Professional Ethics*. Psychological Society.https://www.psychologicalsociety.ie/source/Code%20of%20Professional%20Eth ics%20(Oct%202019).pdf
- Thorpe, A., Anders, W., & Rowley, K. (2014). The community network: an Aboriginal community football club bringing people together. *Australian Journal of Primary Health*, 20(4), 356. https://doi.org/10.1071/py14051
- Toner, J., & Montero, B. (2020). The value of aesthetic judgements in athletic performance. *The Journal of Somaesthetics*, *6*(1).
- Turocy, P. S., DePalma, B. F., Horswill, C. A., Laquale, K. M., Martin, T. J., Perry, A. C., Somova, M. J., & Utter, A. C. (2011). National Athletic Trainers' Association Position Statement: Safe Weight Loss and Maintenance Practices in Sport and Exercise. *Journal* of Athletic Training, 46(3), 322–336. https://doi.org/10.4085/1062-6050-46.3.322
- Ueno, Y., & Suzuki, T. (2016). Longitudinal study on the relationship between resilience and burnout among Japanese athletes. *Journal of Physical Education and Sport*, 2016(04). https://doi.org/10.7752/jpes.2016.04182
- van Paridon, K. N., Timmis, M. A., Nevison, C. M., & Bristow, M. (2017). The anticipatory stress response to sport competition; a systematic review with meta-analysis of cortisol reactivity. *BMJ Open Sport & Exercise Medicine*, 3(1), e000261. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjsem-2017-000261
- Varade, Kristen R. 2015. "Dressing the 'Feispora': Changes in Irish Dance Costume in the New Millennium." New Hibernia Review 19 (3): 58–75.Vella, S. A., Cliff, D. P., Magee, C. A., & Okely, A. D. (2015). Associations between sports participation and psychological

difficulties during childhood: A two-year follow up. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, *18*(3), 304–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2014.05.006

- von Dawans, B., Kirschbaum, C., & Heinrichs, M. (2011). The Trier Social Stress Test for Groups (TSST-G): A new research tool for controlled simultaneous social stress exposure in a group format. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *36*(4), 514–522. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2010.08.004
- Walker, N., Thatcher, J., & Lavallee, D. (2007). Review: Psychological responses to injury in competitive sport: a critical review. *Journal of the Royal Society for the Promotion of Health*, 127(4), 174–180. https://doi.org/10.1177/1466424007079494
- Weiss, M. R., & Glenn, S. D. (1992). Psychological Development and Females' Sport Participation: An Interactional Perspective. *Quest*, 44(2), 138–157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00336297.1992.10484048</u>
- Werner, A., Thiel, A., Schneider, S., Mayer, J., Giel, K. E., & Zipfel, S. (2013). Weight-control behaviour and weight-concerns in young elite athletes – a systematic review. *Journal of Eating Disorders*, 1(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/2050-2974-1-18</u>
- Wu, G., Feder, A., Cohen, H., Kim, J. J., Calderon, S., Charney, D. S., & Mathé, A. A. (2013). Understanding resilience. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 7(10). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2013.00010
- Wulff, H. (2005). Memories in Motion: The Irish Dancing Body. *Body & Society*, *11*(4), 45–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1357034x05058019</u>

Appendices

Appendix A

Participant Information Sheet

Does Team Vs Solo Irish Dancing Produce Different Psychological Outcomes on Anxiety Level and Stress Management Ability?

Who am I?

My name is Ellen Shaw, and I am a final-year psychology student at the National College of Ireland.

What is this study about?

I am inviting you to participate in my final year thesis which is a study examining the relationship of doing a competitive sport, on anxiousness and stress management. The study aims to see if young people who compete in sport are less anxious and better able to manage stress as adults than those who do not. This study is supervised by Dr Michelle Kelly.

What will participation involve?

Participation is voluntary. Participation will involve completing a questionnaire which will take ? minutes. The questionnaire will contain three parts. The first part will be about the level and intensity, if any, of competitive sport that you have engaged in. The second part will assess anxiety using the Liebowitz Social Anxiety Scale. The last part will assess stress management using the Perceived Stress Questionnaire. You have the right to quit the questionnaire at any time without any penalties. However, once your data is submitted you will not be able to withdraw it as it is anonymous and will be among other anonymous data.

Who can participate?

In line with ethical guidelines, you must be at least 18-years old to participate. You must give consent if you want to participate in the study.

Will participating be confidential?

All data received will be anonymous so therefore you cannot be identified. All data is strictly confidential, and the questionnaires will be kept in a password-protected file only accessible by myself. Anonymised data may be used for secondary data analysis. The results of the study will be used in my dissertation, which will be submitted to the National College of Ireland. The results will be used in a presentation done by myself as part of my dissertation grade.

Risks/ benefits of participating?

There is a minor risk of distress from answering questions about anxiety and stress, but should that happen, you are free to exit the questionnaire or avail of the support service details that will be provided in the debriefing sheet. Your participation in the study may help to understand positive factors of competitive sports that are useful in adulthood. There are no direct benefits.

Contact details for further information

If you have any questions, please contact Ellen Shaw through email, x20472166@student.ncirl.ie or the supervisor of this research, Dr Michelle Kelly at <u>michelle.kelly@ncirl.ie</u>

I have read and understand this information

Appendix B

Consent sheet

• I understand the purpose of the study and had the chance to ask questions.

- I understand that I can exit the study at any time before submitting it without any consequences.
- I understand that I have to be at least 18-years old to complete the study.
- I understand that participation involves completing a ? minute questionnaire about competitive sport participation, anxiety and stress management.
- I understand that all the data is anonymous, and my data will be treated confidentially.
- I understand that I may not directly benefit from the study.
- I understand that my anonymised data may be archived on an online repository and may be used for secondary data analysis.
- I understand that my data will be used as part of this dissertation and will be submitted to the National College of Ireland.

By ticking the 'I agree' box, you are consenting that you have read the above information and wish to take part in this study.

I agree □

Ellen Shaw, <u>x20472166@student.ncirl.ie</u>

Appendix C

Debriefing sheet

Thank you for participating in the study on the relationship between competitive sport, anxiety, and stress management. The aim of the study was to see if those who did competitive sport were less anxious and better able to manage stress as adults. The information received is completely confidential and will only be used for my thesis.

Thank you sincerely for your contribution to my thesis. If you have any family/friends who would be eligible to participate in the study, please send them on the link.

Should you have suffered any psychological distress while answering the questionnaire, below are relevant support service details that should be availed of.

Support services:

Samaritans: 116 123

NiteLine: 1800 793 793

YourMentalHealth: 1800 111 888

Aware: 1800 80 48 48

Contact Information:

If you have any questions or queries, please do not hesitate to contact myself, Ellen Shaw at <u>x20472166@student.ncirl.ie</u> or the supervisor of this research, Dr Michelle Kelly at <u>michelle.kelly@ncirl.ie</u>

Appendix D

Liebowitz Social Anxiety Self-Report scale

FEAR

Rate your fear in the following situations (1 = no fear, 2 = mild fear, 3 = moderate fear, 4 =

severe fear)

1. Telephoning in	1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
public				
2. Participating in	1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
small groups				

3. Eating in publi	c 1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
places				
4. Drinking with	1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
others in public	c			
places				
5. Talking to peor	ple 1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
of authority				
6. Acting,	1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
performing, or				
giving a talk in	L			
front of an				
audience				
7. Going to a part	1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
8. Working while	1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
being observed	l 🗆			
9. Writing while	1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
being observed	l 🗆			
10. Calling someon	ne $1 = None$	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
you don't know	v 🗆			
very well				
11. Talking with	1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
people you dor	n't 🛛			
know very wel	1			
12. Meeting strang	ers 1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
13. Urinating in a	1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
public bathroom	m 🗆			
14. Entering a room	n 1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
when others ar	e 🗆			
already seated				
15. Being the centr	re of $1 = None$	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
attention				
16. Speaking up at	a 1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
meeting				
17. Taking a test	1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
18. Expressing a	1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
disagreement of	or 🗆			
disapproval to				
people you dor	n't			
know very wel	1			
19. Looking at peo	ple 1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
you don't know	V 🗆			
very well in the	e			
eyes				
20. Giving a repor	t to a $1 = None$	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
group				
21. Trying to pick	up 1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
someone				

22. Returning goods to	1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
a store				
23. Giving a party	1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
24. Resisting a high	1 = None	2 = Mild	3 = Moderate	4 = Severe
pressure sales				
person				

AVOIDANCE

Rate your avoidance in the following situations (1 = Never 0%, 2 = Occasionally 1-33%, 3 =

Often 33-66%, 4 = Usual 66-100%).

1.	Telephoning	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
	in public				
2.	Participating	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
	in small				
	groups				
3.	Eating in	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
	public places				
4.	Drinking with	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
	others in				
	public places				
5.	Talking to	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
	people of				
	authority				
6.	Acting,	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
	performing,				
	or giving a				
	talk in front				
	of an				
	audience				
7.	Going to a	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
	party				
8.	Working	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
	while being				
	observed				
9.	Writing while	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
	being				
	observed				
10.	Calling	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
	someone you				
	don't know				
	very well				
11.	Talking with	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
	people you				

don't know				
Very well	1 1	2 0 11	2 00	
12. Meeting	I = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = 0sual
strangers				
13. Urinating in a	I = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
public				
bathroom				
14. Entering a	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
room when				
others are				
already seated				
15. Being the	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
centre of				
attention				
16. Speaking up	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
at a meeting				
17. Taking a test	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
18. Expressing a	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
disagreement				
or				
disapproval to				
people you				
don't know				
very well				
19. Looking at	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
people you				
don't know				
very well in				
the eyes				
20. Giving a	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
report to a				
group				
21. Trying to pick	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
up someone				
22. Returning	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
goods to a				
store				
23. Giving a	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
party				
24. Resisting a	1 = Never	2 = Occasionally	3 = Often	4 = Usual
high pressure				
sales person				

Appendix E

Perceived Stress Scale

1.	In the last month, how often have you been upset because of something that happened unexpectedly?	Never	Almost never	Sometimes	Fairly often	Very often
2.	In the last month, how often have you felt that you were unable to control the important things in your life?	Never	Almost never	Sometimes	Fairly often	Very often
3.	In the last month, how often have you felt nervous or stressed?	Never	Almost never	Sometimes	Fairly often	Very often
4.	In the last month, how often have you felt confident about your ability to handle your personal problems?	Never	Almost never	Sometimes	Fairly often	Very often
5.	In the last month, how often have you felt that things were going your way?	Never	Almost never	Sometimes	Fairly often	Very often
6.	In the last month, how often have you felt you could not cope with all the things that you had to do?	Never	Almost never	Sometimes	Fairly often	Very often
7.	In the last month, how often have you felt you were able to control the irritations in your life?	Never	Almost never	Sometimes	Fairly often	Very often
8.	In the last month, how often have you felt that you were on top of things?	Never	Almost never	Sometimes	Fairly often	Very often
9.	In the last month, how often have you felt angered about things that were out of your control?	Never	Almost never	Sometimes	Fairly often	Very often
10.	In the last month, how often have you felt difficulties were piling up so high that you	Never	Almost never	Sometimes	Fairly often	Very often

could not overcome			
then?			

Appendix F

Evidence of data and SPSS output

🍓 fyp spss 1.sav edited.sav 4.sav [DataSet1] - IBM SPSS Statistics Data Editor

	Name	Type	Width	Decimals	Label	Values	Missing	Columns	Align	Measure	Role
1 (Gender	Numeric	17	0		{1, Male}	None	17	遍 Right	\delta Nominal	🔪 Input
2 /	Ageinyears	Numeric	8	0	Age (in years)	None	None	12	≡ Right	Scale Scale	🔪 Input
3 \	Whatisyouc	Numeric	24	0	What is you cu	{1, Seconda	None	24	遍 Right	💑 Nominal	> Input
4 [Didyoucom	Numeric	24	0	Did you compet	{1, A solo/in	None	24	■ Right	💑 Nominal	> Input
5 [Didyoucom	Numeric	26	0	Did you compet	{1, bun grad	None	26	ा Right	d Ordinal	> Input
6 [Doyouaimto	Numeric	3	0	Do you aim to/	{1, Yes}	None	3	🗃 Right	💑 Nominal	> Input
7 \	Vouldyoue	Numeric	3	0	Would you enc	{1, Yes}	None	3	ा Right	🚴 Nominal	> Input
8 [Doyouaimto	Numeric	3	0	Do you aim to/	{1, Yes}	None	3	遍 Right	\delta Nominal	> Input
9 [Doyouhavei	Numeric	3	0	Do you have/int	{1, No}	None	3	≡ Right	💑 Nominal	🔪 Input
10 1	elephoning	Numeric	2	0	Telephoning in	{1, none}	None	12	≡ Right	Ordinal	> Input
11 F	Participatin	Numeric	2	0	Participating in	{1, none}	None	12	■ Right	- Ordinal	S Input
12 E	atinginpubl	Numeric	2	0	Eating in public	{1, none}	None	12	🗃 Right	d Ordinal	> Input
13 [Drinkingwith	Numeric	2	0	Drinking with ot	{1, none}	None	12	ा Right	Ordinal	> Input
14 1	alkingtope	Numeric	2	0	Talking to peopl	{1, none}	None	12	🗏 Right	Ordinal	🔪 Input
15 A	Actingperfor	Numeric	2	0	Acting, performi	{1, none}	None	12	遍 Right	Ordinal	> Input
16 (Goingtoaparty	Numeric	2	0	Going to a party	{1, none}	None	12	🗮 Right	Ordinal	🔪 Input
17 \	Workingwhil	Numeric	2	0	Working while	{1, none}	None	12	遍 Right	Ordinal	> Input
18 \	Writingwhile	Numeric	2	0	Writing while b	{1, none}	None	12	E Right	Ordinal	> Input
19 (Callingsome	Numeric	2	0	Calling someon	{1, none}	None	12	端 Right	Ordinal	> Input
20 1	alkingwithp	Numeric	2	0	Talking with pe	{1, none}	None	12	≡ Right	Ordinal	🔪 Input
21	Neetingstra	Numeric	2	0	Meeting strang	{1, none}	None	12	를 Right	Ordinal	> Input
22 (Jrinatingina	Numeric	2	0	Urinating in a p	{1, none}	None	12	端 Right	Ordinal	> Input
23 E	Enteringaro	Numeric	2	0	Entering a roo	{1, none}	None	12	■ Right	d Ordinal	🔪 Input
24 E	Beingthece	Numeric	2	0	Being the cente	{1, none}	None	12	🗏 Right	Ordinal	🔪 Input
25 5	Speakingup	Numeric	2	0	Speaking up at	{1, none}	None	12	≣ Right	J Ordinal	🔪 Input
26 1	akingatest	Numeric	2	0	Taking a test	{1, none}	None	12	Right	Ordinal	🔪 Input
27 E	Expressing	Numeric	2	0	Expressing a di	{1, none}	None	12	■ Right	J Ordinal	🔪 Input
28 L	ookingatpe	Numeric	2	0	Looking at peo	{1, none}	None	12	Right	J Ordinal	🔪 Input
29 (Sivingaranor	Numeric	2	0	Giving a report t	[1 none]	None	12	= Right	Ordinal	> Input

